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Motte and Bailey

Project: Motte and Bailey
Helen Hofton    December 2007



1. Introduction
The village of Pirton has been described by English Heritage as "one of the most important historic sites in Hertfordshire with its well preserved village and castle earthworks.” I have been a life trustee of the scheduled ancient monument, which contains the castle complex of a motte and two baileys and a planned village, since it was bought by the Parish Council in 1994. I am therefore very interested in finding out about its history, in particular when it was built and by whom.
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Fig 1: An imaginative reconstruction of the Pirton motte and bailey
.

2. Wider reading
2.1 General

The picture conjured up when the word castle is mentioned is that of a stone keep surrounded by a curtain wall, moat and drawbridge -- but most castles in the landscape today are the remnants of timber castles “just humps and bumps in the ground.” Over 600 motte and bailey or motte castles are known distributed across most regions of Britain, with a dense concentration along the Welsh border. [Fig 2] Mottes were artificial mounds of earth and timber, which were round or oval at the base and flattened at the top so as to provide a look out point or temporary residence. The structures were made of timber and occasionally stone. The bailey contained the outbuildings and was separated from the motte by a ditch or moat. The whole complex was surrounded by a deep ditch and rampart often topped with a palisade.
The traditional view, which has recently been challenged, is that castles were originally built in Normandy and the idea brought over to England at the Norman Conquest. It was thought that the Anglo Saxon and Norman attitudes to defence were quite different and therefore they produced quite different structures. The Saxon burhs were communal fortifications for the common good, often used in defence against Vikings.
 On the other hand, Norman castles were private fortifications, not only instruments of conquest, but also physical expressions of a society organised for war against constant external threat and internal tensions.

The more recent amendment to the traditional view argues that there is an amount of archaeological evidence, but not much documentary evidence, for private defended residences in late Saxon England. These often lie under field monuments that have been identified as belonging to the Conquest or Anarchy periods, as have been found at excavations in Goltho [Lincs] and Sulgrave [Northants].
 Castles are difficult to date because of lack of archaeological and documentary evidence.

Three known castles had been erected before the Conquest in Edward the Confessor’s reign [he was influenced by French ideas]. It is a fact that large numbers of castles were built in a short time immediately after the Conquest. Domesday mentions about fifty. Higham states that it is difficult to estimate the total number built in the Conqueror’s reign as many were undocumented and only survive now as earthworks, whose exact date of origin is unknown. Others may date from the civil wars of Stephen’s reign [1135-1154], but the documentary evidence for this period is too poor for them to be dated precisely. Most were subsequently abandoned, although some often in important lordship centres survived and were rebuilt in stone such as Dudley, Stafford and Warwick.

Only fifty castles are recorded in Domesday and none in Hertfordshire. Other sources indicate that there were at least three castles in the county
 -- these are Berkhamsted, Hertford and Bishop’s Stortford. All three were motte and bailey type constructions of timber with some stone walls which may have been added later.
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Fig 2: Derek Renn’s distribution map of British mottes [Renn 1973]
2.2 Site specific

The date of construction of Pirton’s motte and bailey is unknown. The Pirton Local History Society states that it was built by either Alan or Gerard de Limesy, son and grandson respectively of the Domesday tenant of Peritone, and dismantled in the reign of Henry II 
 but this is pure conjecture. The fortifications could date either from the period of the Conquest or the Anarchy. It has sometimes been claimed that the taller, conical mounds such as Toot Hill are of eleventh rather than twelfth century date but the evidence is inconclusive.
 Derek Renn
 has suggested that the Pirton motte-and-bailey should be classified with those at Therfield, Anstey, and Wymondley and belongs to the period of the Anarchy. Certainly, Martin Biddle’s excavations indicated a mid-twelfth century date for Therfield, 
 while George Evans's 1955 excavations at The Bury in Pirton produced twelfth-century pottery, such as developed St Neots wares, but no obviously eleventh-century sherds.
 Although the excavation of a small area outside the bailey cannot be considered representative of the whole, this does perhaps confirm a date in the mid twelfth century for the development of this part of the bailey, at least.
There is a fairly large number of earthwork castles in the Pirton area, with other examples at The Hills (Meppershall, Beds.), Cainhoe (Clophill, Beds.) and Great Wymondley (Herts.), and it may be that control of the communications route through the Hitchin Gap was the reason for this concentration. If the dating suggested by Renn is correct, control of the Chiltern scarp and of the routes through it may have been of importance during the Anarchy of Stephen's reign during the twelfth century.
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Map 1: Medieval castles in Hertfordshire [Renn 1971]

3. Case Study
3.1 Description of the site
The North Hertfordshire village of Pirton is situated on a gently sloping spur of slightly raised ground overlooking the lower Bedford plains to the north. At this point there is a break some two miles wide in the Chiltern escarpment, and Pirton lies on the spring line between the chalk and the undulating chalk marl. At this corner of the gap, the escarpment falls gently to the plain, so that the village is on two levels with a short but steep slope between them. The church and the motte and bailey are on the upper level, but the lower contains moated houses dating from at least the sixteenth century. The greater part of the parish is only about 200 ft. above the ordnance datum, but the ground rises considerably, and in the north-west, where it meets the Chilterns, it has a height of 400 ft.  
Environmentally Pirton is a good area to support a lordship centre and castle. The geology produces fertile soils for arable farming, pasture and hay meadows. Within the present village boundaries are a number of natural springs. The motte is partly surrounded by a moat part of which was filled in during the 1950s. The Bury has two ponds in it and some of the outer ditches of the baileys hold water.
.
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Photo 1: Aerial photograph of Pirton. The Icknield Way runs through the manorial castle complex, which is encircled in red.
The ancient Icknield Way forms the middle part of the old West-East track comprising the Ridgeway in Wiltshire and the Peddars Way in Norfolk. It runs right through the Bury as illustrated in Photo 1. The whole monument site covers ten acres and is surrounded by a complex series of sunken roads. Inside it, occupying the Northern half, is the large motte with its western bailey and the early 12th century St Mary’s church. This stands in the eastern bailey on the North East.
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Fig 3: Interpretive plan of the double bailey, Pirton

The motte measures approximately 100m in diameter and 6.7m in height. Adjacent to the motte lies the extensive remains of the bailey ditch some 2.5m in depth, which is partially filled with water fed by a spring. It is an interesting military point that the Norman motte has been sited in the best position to obtain vantage to the North since the ground begins to drop away here, without losing the view to the South. The motte is sufficiently large that it could not have been thrown up from its own moat, and this fact has possibly been used by previous commentators to pre-suppose the presence of a natural mound or earlier artificial mound. However, it is at least a tenable theory that the rampart of the large ditch would have been "dead ground" and was removed by the Norman motte makers and added to the motte
. No stone has been found on the site and it may be inferred that the defences were all timber. Indeed there is such a lack of local building stone that the church itself was constructed from a soft and unsuitable clunch which was quarried in the parish.
The western bailey was perhaps original and replaced or augmented at a later date by the larger, eastern bailey. Possibly the two were contemporary and the smaller bailey contained the lord's residence, while the larger was for his retainers.
The earthworks south of the castle are very regular and give the impression of deliberate planning. They appear to represent a deserted settlement with house platforms, property boundaries, ponds which front on to a hollow way, which was called Lads Orchard Lane or the lane in front of Barbers Homestead [Walnut Tree Farm]. Since these settlement earthworks respect the castle defences, it seems reasonable to assume that they date from a period when the castle was in use. 
4 Sources and methods
4.1 General sources
There are two main sources for the study of mottes -- these are archaeological and documentary. Both have drawbacks. 
Archaeological evidence in Britain is limited to the few sites that have been excavated. As most timber castles leave very little trace above ground it is necessary to excavate to find artefacts to aid dating. The sites are mainly scheduled ancient monuments and it is difficult to get permission to dig and can be very costly. 

Documentary evidence may be used for dating as well as for studying castles in their political and social contexts. Unfortunately this type of evidence is usually comprised of a few patchy references in documents that were written for other purposes. There is an inadequate quantity of references and coverage is inconsistent. Most timber castles have no specific documentary history at all. In such cases, the only way to approximate a date is to study references to land ownership for the place in which they were situated. In a small number of cases, some sites have been well documented, either by medieval chronicle, or in some administrative record. In Britain, the relevant date range is broadly from the later eleventh to thirteenth centuries. Using this sample as a framework for dating a date range can be inferred. Pictorial references are even rarer being mainly restricted to the example in the Bayeux tapestry. Broadly speaking the chronology of the subject is based on the documentary sources, with pottery and other artefacts providing additional evidence from excavated sites.

4.2 Specific sources and methods
Most books suggest that Pirton is a castle of the anarchy period. However, my contention is that it may have been built in the late eleventh century by Ralph de Limesy. 
In order to give as accurate a date as possible, the evidence will be examined at three periods; pre Conquest [prior to 1066], Conquest to Civil War [1066-1135] and the Civil War [1135-1154].
The evidence from archaeological sources can be summarized as:
· The Historic Environment Record shows any settlement evidence found across the whole parish and this is helpful to build up a picture of the areas of settlement before Domesday, but it is limited to random finds.

· The excavation report on three digs. These were of land behind the Fox public house, at Walnut Tree Farm, and at Rectory Farm. They give information on the village pre Domesday but they do not cover the relevant period.
· The unpublished report on a small excavation of one trench on the Bury by the curator of Hitchin Museum in 1955 produced a small number of finds. It covered too small an area to be representative, but it provides the only findings that are available. (As four fifths of the site is scheduled it is unlikely that English Heritage will allow further excavation.)
· An unpublished report on motte and bailey site surveyed in 1988 by the North Hertfordshire District Archaeological Unit. Although this work was valuable in that it extended the total area of the monument indicating the east and west bailey, identifying house platforms, a holloway and an extent of ridge and furrow it was only a survey. A full excavation would yield much more comprehensive evidence.
The evidence from documentary sources can be summarized as:
· Great Domesday is the most specific source of information and it is possible to build up an economic picture of the period covering factors such as population, wealth, and farming. But the purpose of the survey was for taxation. There are many omissions; for example priests are noted, but churches are not, even though excavations have proved that they were there. More importantly for this study, very few castles were recorded in Domesday.
5. Findings 
The findings and preliminary conclusions of the research can be considered under the three headings as follows:

5.1 Before the Conquest
Archaeological evidence

1 The Romano-British settlement and subsequent Saxon occupation of Pirton lies to the west of the current village core 
[see map 2].
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Map 2: The HER record of the parish of Pirton

2. Archaeological excavations and surveys tend to suggest that in the tenth century Pirton was a collection of scattered farmsteads [Hammonds Farm, The Grange, Rectory Farm and Walnut Tree Farm]. Two of these, Lordship Farm and The Grange [see map2], are moated sites in the north of the parish on the county boundary.  Rectory Farm is the manorial holding associated with the endowment given by Ralph de Limesy to found Hertford Priory.
 
3. Evidence has been discovered about 100m to the North East of the castle complex, of a settlement of the Saxon/Norman period, 10th to 12th century [the Fox site]
. Here the remains of twenty wooden buildings, rectangular halls with internal divisions, were found in 1998. Some buildings were used for living, storage, or cereal crop processing and these were surrounded by fenced boundaries and animal pens. A large building was found which may have been the first church as it was surrounded by a cemetery containing 40 bodies. It is likely they are Christian due to their east-west orientation and lack of grave goods. This may have been the religious focus of the scattered farmsteads in the parish. The pottery finds were St Neots ware and which dies out after the 12th century.

4. The Fox site seems to decline in importance in the twelfth century. This decline is significant given the density of occupation over the previous centuries and the lack of re-development during the late medieval and post medieval periods, especially as the site is located in the core of the village. It appears that the land was used for agricultural purposes, after the 13th century until the present day. There is no evidence to suggest the Fox site was a defended with ditches, although many of the bodies in the cemetery show cut marks consistent with a melee
.

5. Place name evidence could suggest that the naming of the motte as Toot Hill is significant. Tots or Tuts were Saxon look-out hills or beacon sites. The adjacent bailey area is known as The Bury which is a name often connected with the Saxon burhs. Was this an old defensive site with a look-out hill before the Conquest? This would seem to be unlikely for two reasons: the name Bury in this area of Hertfordshire is quite common and usually linked to a later manorial site, and secondly the earliest documentary evidence of the name Toot is in the Enclosure Award of 1818. 
Documentary Evidence
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Fig 4: The Hitchin estate

1. The Tribal Hidage tells us that Hitchin [whose parish boundary is adjacent to Pirton] was the centre of the Hicce tribe until the 8th century.
 Its regio, which extended over a large area of North Herts and South Bedfordshire, included Pirton. After the regio was absorbed into Mercia in the 8th century the town continued to be an important administrative centre for a great royal estate.
 It gave its name to the hundred, which is common for royal manors.
2. In Edward the Confessor’s time Hitchin was held by Earl Harold
 but this may have been a recent alienation from the Crown. Most of the places in the Hitchin Hundred were either in Earl Harold’s hands, or those of his men. They owed duties to him which were administered from the centre at Hitchin. For some reason this did not apply to Pirton, which did not owe any obligations [see Fig 2]. This suggests that Pirton was an important place in its own right and although a castle did not exist pre-Conquest, possibly Pirton was a likely site for construction after the arrival of the Normans.
3. Pre-Domesday Pirton was owned by Stigand who was the archbishop of Canterbury. He held the most land after the King. The tenants were an English knight [miles] and two sokeman. It was a valuable vill worth £ 25, which is only £10 less than nearby Hitchin.
4. Hitchin was a minster church and therefore had ecclesiastical connections with many of the surrounding vills in their parochie, such as chapelries which were dependent on the mother church. As previously suggested, Pirton was of sufficient standing to have its own church before Domesday.
In summary, the archaeological and documentary evidence provide no indication that the motte and bailey existed prior to the Conquest.

5.2 Conquest to Civil War [1066-1135]
Archaeological evidence
1. Although there has never been a full scale dig, the survey of the site in 1988 produced some interesting results. For the first time the west and east baileys were identified. Also it was recognized that the area to the south of the holloway, which respects the motte, was a planned settlement of the same period. Since then, another piece of evidence has come to light in the area that was identified as a possible manor house site. In 2007, a dig took place in the small part of the western bailey that is not scheduled, but nothing of interest was found. However, in the same area three artefacts were found on the surface, the owner having dug them up many years ago. Carenza Lewis of Corpus Christi College, Cambridge who was conducting the dig suggested that they were part of a column from a manorial hall; a mortar for grinding of the same period and about fifty hand made clay tiles
. Currently these have been sent away for more accurate dating. The column made from the same material as the church suggests that although most of the buildings and defences associated with the castle were timber, the manor house was made of the local clunch.

2. George Evans’s 1957 excavation on the southern edge of the eastern bailey produced twelfth-century pottery, such as developed St Neots wares, but no obviously eleventh century sherds
.

3. One of the best pieces of surviving evidence is St Mary’s Church, which stands within the eastern bailey. The layout of the site suggests that the church and the motte and bailey were contemporary. If the church can be accurately dated, then this would help to date the castle. The existing architectural features suggest that the original church consisted of a nave, a chancel, and a central tower and a north and south apsidal transept [see fig 5]. The apsidal shape is often associated with Saxon churches. For example, the much smaller church at Great Amwell Hertfordshire [held by de Limesy] has apsidal chancel and is dated to 11th century.
 The V.C.H. states that the east and west arches of the Pirton tower are semicircular dating back to about 1130. The nave and chancel also seem to be of this date. Of course, the original church in the bailey may have been constructed of timber, as has been suggested for the possible church on the Fox site. The Domesday Book records that there was a priest in the vill in 1086. Was he on the Fox site or the present site or somewhere else? The first named vicar of Pirton was Roger in 1218, but previously the rector was the Abbot of St Albans 
 and so the absence of a vicar does not mean that there was not a church in previous years.
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Fig 5: Ground plan of St Mary’s Church Pirton

Documentary evidence
1. The Hertfordshire conquest castles formed a defensive arc around London [see map 1] and were situated on each of the principal Roman roads about twenty miles from the capital: Berkhampstead in the Chiltern Gap on Akeman Street, Hertford on Ermine Street, and Waytemore [Bishops Stortford] on Stane Street. These fortifications acted as administration centres and controlled the north-south roads across the middle of the county
.  The castle at Pirton straddles the ancient trackway of the Icknield Way and was the only finished castle in the north of the county on this important military east-west route.
2. Pirton was a vill comprising of a single manor which had been granted to Ralph de Limesy, who was a Norman baron.
 Ralph was a tenant in chief, a wealthy man of some importance. Monks at Hertford Priory said that he was the Conqueror’s nephew, certainly his brother Robert was Bishop of Chester, Litchfield and Coventry.  He came from Limesy near Rouen and fought with William and was rewarded with 41 manors in nine counties [See Table 1]. Pirton was his most valuable holding.
	Vill
	County
	Value 1086
	
	Vill
	County
	Value 1086

	Pirton
	Herts
	£20
	
	Danethorpe
	Nottingham
	

	Amwell 
	Herts
	£14
	
	Epperstone
	Nottingham
	£7

	Caldecote
	Herts
	£2
	
	Gonalston
	Nottingham
	

	Hainstone
	Herts
	10s
	
	Thorpe
	Nottingham
	£2

	Houghton
	Suffolk
	£5
	
	Shelton
	Nottingham
	

	Fenstead
	Suffolk
	£1.10s
	
	Collingham
	Nottingham
	

	Cavendish
	Suffolk
	£10
	
	Collyweston
	Northants
	£6

	Coddenham
	Suffolk
	
	
	Budbrooke
	Warwick
	£8

	Newton
	Suffolk
	£3
	
	Comewick
	Somerset
	£2

	Cornard 
	Suffolk
	£1
	
	Luccombe
	Somerset
	£4

	Bedingfield
	Suffolk
	16s.8d
	
	Selworthy
	Somerset
	£1.5s

	Framlingham
	Suffolk
	15s
	
	Allerford
	Somerset
	£1

	Cranley
	Suffolk
	£1
	
	Bossington
	Somerset
	

	Hestley
	Suffolk
	20d
	
	Treborough
	Somerset
	7s

	Occold
	Suffolk
	16d
	
	Rapps
	Somerset
	3s

	Oxborough
	Norfolk
	£5
	
	Aller
	Somerset
	£6

	Didlington
	Norfolk
	£1
	
	East Down
	Devon
	£4

	Chigwell
	Essex
	£10
	
	Bradwell
	Devon
	£3

	Brundon
	Essex
	£6
	
	Roadway
	Devon
	30d

	Ninetuni
	Essex
	3s
	
	Morthoe
	Devon
	10s

	Hawton
	Nottingham
	£4.10s
	
	
	
	


Table 1: Ralph de Limesy’s holdings and their value as recorded in the Domesday Survey.
3. By Domesday Ralph held the Barony of Cavendish in Suffolk
 and initially it is likely to have been his caput. There is no evidence of a castle there, but it is not unusual for the centre of lordship to be removed from the castle. Renn implies that there were no baronies in Hertfordshire at this time.

4. Soon after Domesday, Ralph was granted the lands in Warwickshire which had belonged to Christina sister of Edgar Aetheling.
 These were Ulverley or Wolverley in Solihull and Long Itchington, which was one of the most extensive and valuable manors in Warwickshire.
 The chief seat of the Limesy’s was then made at Ulverley and there is evidence of a castle there.
 Later documents indicate that the barony in Warwickshire may have been the more important than the one in Suffolk, as it represented one knight’s fees
 held by Gerard de Limesy [Ralph’s great grandson] in 1162,
 whereas Cavendish was only held for half a barony for one knight or two sergeants for forty days.
5. Another important questions concerns when the church moved from Fox site to present site. Ralph established a Benedictine priory at Hertford in 1090 just before he died and funded it with tithes from the Manor of Pirton.
 The VCH says that Ralph gave the church of Pirton with tithes of his land as an endowment to the priory.
 This implies that the church at Pirton was already built by 1090. His son Ralph also granted the tithe of Ulverley to the Priory, some time between 1100 and 1130. As Ralph the father was granted the Barony of Ulverley after Domesday, perhaps the initial grant shows that Pirton was his main holding and therefore a place that he would build a castle.
6. Pirton castle is the only one in the hundred -- although there is also a motte and bailey in the adjoining hundred at Great Wymondley.
7. North Hertfordshire was the most populated area of Hertfordshire at Domesday with between 50 and 70 people per square mile. 
 Pirton was the second largest vill in the Hitchin Half Hundred after Hitchin. Castles of the Norman period were often administration centres rather than military centres. As there is not a castle at Hitchin, perhaps the motte at Pirton fulfilled the military role while Hitchin was the administration centre for this thriving, heavily-populated area [see fig6.].
[image: image9.png]Recorded population per square mile

-

LA

)

/R LA )

TT 134

= T
9 1 1/
()
="
2
8
0 10km
= ———|
...... 2





Fig 6:  Hertfordshire -Domesday population

7. There is a good balance of all social classes compared to some parishes in the hundred which would populate an economy to support a castle [see Table 2].
	Modern Name 
	Villagers
	Bordars
	Cottagers
	Slaves
	Total

	Hitchin
	44
	17
	29
	12
	102

	Pirton
	25
	29
	12
	10
	76

	Great Offley
	19 +3 knights
	25
	7
	11
	65

	Kings Walden
	30
	11
	7
	4
	52

	Temple Dinsley
	19 +1 frenchman
	7
	7
	6
	40

	Lilley
	19
	6
	4
	6
	35

	Preston
	10
	6
	12
	4
	32

	Hexton
	14
	5
	5
	4
	28

	Kimpton
	12 +2 frenchmen
	2
	3
	5
	24

	Stagenhoe
	6
	
	2
	
	8

	Bendish
	4
	
	2
	
	6

	Wellbury
	
	4
	
	
	4

	Little Offley
	1
	1
	1
	
	3


Table 2: The social composition of the Hitchin Half Hundred

8. There is documentary evidence from the early modern period that the green outside the western bailey was called Chipping Green, which would indicate a market on the site, although there is no record of a market charter. 
In summary, although there is no direct archaeological or documentary evidence that the motte and bailey existed in this period there is substantial circumstantial evidence that it might have been built between 1066 and 1090 before Ralph became Baron of Ulverley.
5.3 Civil War [1135-1154]
Archaeological Evidence
1. There is a fairly large number of earthwork castles in the Pirton area, with other examples at The Hills (Meppershall, Beds.), Cainhoe (Clophill, Beds.) and Great Wymondley( Herts), and it may be that control of the communications route through the Hitchin Gap was the reason for this concentration. If the dating suggested by Renn is correct, control of the Chiltern scarp and of the routes through it may have been of importance during the Anarchy of Stephen's reign, which would date the Pirton motte to around 1135-54.
2. Therfield, also in North Herts, was excavated by Martin Biddle in 1960. This is an anarchy site which appeared to have been occupied for only a short while as no buildings have been found in the bailey. It is a less wealthy village than Pirton and had population of half the size at Domesday. It could not have supported a castle at Domesday but Pirton could.
3. Most castles of the Civil War were “unlicensed” and hastily erected timber structures built to defend a route at a time when marauding bands were roaming the countryside. But the Pirton site shows evidence of careful planning and forethought; a motte, two baileys one containing a stone church and the other a stone manor house; a market and a planned village.

Documentary Evidence

1. It is not clear when the motte fell out of use but an undated deed signed by John de Limesy talks of land near the green mound.
 This may refer to the disused motte or to the long barrow on the parish boundary. This would suggest that by the late 12th century the motte was disused.
2. The de Limesys moved their primary residence to Ulverley around 1090. That family continued as lords of the manor in Pirton until the 1190s when John de Limesy died and the manor was divided between his two sisters Basilia D’Odingselles and Eleanor de Lindsay. As there was no direct family connection any more perhaps the motte fell into disuse.
5. Conclusions
In conclusion, the evidence suggests that Pirton’s motte and bailey was constructed by Ralph de Limesy after the Normans arrived in 1066 but before 1090.

· The motte with its two baileys, church, planned settlement and market seem to suggest careful  forethought. At Domesday the vill was an economically strong settlement with a population and good cross section of occupations able to support a growing economy. This degree of planning does not seem to suggest a hastily erected structure built at the time of the Civil War.
· Pirton was Ralph’s most valuable holding at Domesday and he held the whole parish as one manor. As far as it can be ascertained no evidence has been found of castles at any other of his holdings at Domesday.
· It would appear that Ralph never had a castle at Cavendish but had one at Ulverley after he was given the Barony there in 1090 and he made that his primary residence. As he was a wealthy man of high status he may well have had a castle at Pirton up to the award of the Barony.
· An important piece of evidence is provided by the date when the church moved from the Fox site to the present site. St Mary’s Church was certainly built before 1090 and therefore as the church respects the castle it is likely that the castle was also built before this date.
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� Drawing in author’s possession.


� Higham R. and Barker P. p 38


� Higham R. and Barker P. p 50


� Higham R. and Barker P. p 201


� Renn D. p4


� Wayne ed. 1987, p2 Alan and Gerard de Limesy are grandson and great grandson of Ralph.


� Matthews K.


� Renn 1971, p7


� Journal of the British Archaeological Association, Third series XXVII p53-91


� Evans, G. L.


� Matthews K.


� Matthews K.


� Higham and Baker p26


�Buncefield pipeline route excavation


� It is difficult to distinguish between ditched farmsteads and moated sites. The true function of moated sites is unknown, but their construction is thought to reflect status rather than being defensive sites. They are most commonly manorial sites, ancient free tenements, or ecclesiastical properties. The location of the earliest manor house in Pirton is not known, but it is presumed to be in the western bailey. The three existing manor houses were built in Elizabethan times, perhaps on the site of older buildings.





� Turner C.


� Turner C


� Williamson T.


� Williamson T. The origins of Hertfordshire p102


� Friel I


� Later King Harold


� See photos in appendix.


� Subsequent to this essay being completed the dating has indicated that a more accurate date for the column and mortar would be 13th century and the tiles 17th or 18th century. They may all have come from the church when it was being repaired in the 19th century after the tower fell down.


� Evans G.


� VCH Herts


� Newbery M.p2


� Newbury M.


� Renn D.


� The term baron was introduced after the Norman Conquest to signify a tenant in chief who received land in return for military service. It is the lowest rank of peerage below that of earl.


� Sanders I.J. p29


� The 3 baronies in Hertfordshire- Benington, Walkern, Berkhamstead were recognised in the reign of Henry I.


� Christina went into a nunnery in Romsey in Hampshire.


� 24 hides worth £20, the same value as Pirton.


� The original settlement in Ulverley is thought to have been in the district now known as Olton, where traces of a castle and park were found so late as the 17th century


.


� After the conquest all land in England was owned by William 1, who granted most of it to tenants in chief, earls and barons who in turn granted it to knights in return for military service o f providing arms , armour and horse for up to 40 days active service per year. This was known as a knight’s fee.


� Sanders I.J. p30 In 1162 Gerard paid for scutage on 25 knights fees but the only scutage later paid was for 2 knight’s fees in Warwick and Leicester


� Ralph de Limesy founded the priory of St. Mary of Hertford as a cell to St. Albans and endowed it with two hides of land in Pirton and a hide of land at Hertford and a church which he had built there. The place where the friary stood was known as Limesy Fee and was outside the area and jurisdiction of the borough. 'The borough of Hertford: Castle, honour, manors, church and charities', A History of the County of Hertford: volume 3 (1912), pp. 501-511


� The Benedictine priory of St. Mary of Hertford, a cell of St. Albans Abbey, was built about the end of the 11th century  by Ralph de Limesi for six monks who were to be sent from St. Albans. Ralph gave as endowment a good hide of land at Hertford, the church of Pirton with tithe of his land and that of his men and 2½ hides of land, the mill, pasture for the oxen of the monks' ploughs with his own and feed for their pigs in his woods; a carucate of land in Itchington (co. Warw.) and certain tithes there and in Ulverley in Solihull (co. Warw.), Cavendish (co. Suffolk), Bibbesworth in Kimpton (co. Herts.), Epperstone (co. Notts.), and  'Torp.' From: 'Houses of Benedictine monks: Hertford Priory', A History of the County of Hertford: Volume 4 (1971), pp. 419-421. URL: http://www.british-history.ac.uk/report.aspx?compid=37959. 


� Williamson T. p 132 Domesday only records landholders.


� Williamson T.


� Baring F.H


� DE/150b 
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